FILED COURT OF APPEALS **DIVISION II** 2015 JAN 12 PM 3: 25 STATE OF WASHINGTON Case No 91200-9 BY. DFPUT

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARCUS GERLACH and SUZANNE GERLACH, Petitioners

#### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS**

Marcus Gerlach and Suzanne Gerlach (Gerlachs) ask the Washington State Supreme Court to accept review following the Court of Appeals' decision.

#### CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

· The Gerlachs seek review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion, Marcus Gerlach and Suzanne Gerlach v. City of Bainbridge Island, No. 45571-4-II, filed on December 16, 2014, which affirmed the Kitsap County Superior Court Order dismissing the Gerlachs' request to impose the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine upon the City of Bainbridge Island.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1) Does the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine (AFD) apply to public servants mandating a fair and unbiased review of a permit application, by a neutral and impartial permit reviewer?

2) Pursuant to the AFD, are the public servants of a municipality precluded from applying biased standards, concealing evidence, and making dishonest statements in the review of an application for a permit?

3) If the Trial Court finds "troubling character"<sup>1</sup> that is in conflict with the AFD, but dismisses the case and the Appeal Court finds that case law cited by the Gerlachs, in favor of the AFD, was "wrongly decided"<sup>2</sup> should the Supreme Court grant review to decide if the lower courts' acts were proper?

 $<sup>^1</sup>$  Appendix A Superior Court Order pg 5.  $^2$  Appendix B, Court of Appeals order pg 7

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Gerlachs own property on Bainbridge Island and sought a permit from the City of Bainbridge Island (City), expecting the City to act in good faith, fair dealings and review the application in a fair and impartial fashion.<sup>3</sup> Instead of fairness, the City's staff, agents and employees engaged in bad faith, deceit, and dishonesty, in violation of the AFD. The staff's violations breached the City's mandatory obligation to review permit applications in a fair and unbiased manner. The lower courts ignored the troubling conduct and sought to cure the City's defective actions by eviscerating the AFD.

The Gerlachs expected to be treated fairly and in good faith by the public servants at the municipality. Unfortunately, the City's public servants failed to act fairly and in good faith regarding the permit application. Shortly after the Gerlachs sought a permit from the City, the Gerlachs realized that the City's employees, staff and agents were acting in an unfair and biased manner. The Gerlachs were forced to file litigation against the City for the violations under the AFD. The Gerlachs only wanted fair treatment and asked that their application be reviewed by the Kitsap County Planning Department (KCPD) or any other unbiased reviewer. The Gerlachs filed their litigation <u>before</u> the City issued an untimely and defective decision on

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  The City promised in writing on June 23, 2011, to treat the Gerlachs in good faith and not to retaliate. (CP 387)

their application, as required by the AFD. The City violated their own municipal code and violated the AFD when they issued their untimely and defective decision.<sup>4</sup> The Gerlachs only sought a fair and impartial permit review process, <u>not</u> a permit according to the Declaratory Relief for AFD.

The Gerlachs petitioned the Trial Court to vacate the City's defective decision and have the application reviewed by the KCPD via a declaratory judgment. Instead of applying the AFD to the City, the Trial Court denied the request for fairness. (Appendix A) The Trial Court's opinion was in contradiction to the City's own belief that the AFD applied to the City's Planning Department actions.<sup>5</sup> Instead of applying fairness to the Gerlachs' application, the Trial Court's opinion endeavored to refer the AFD matter to the Hearing Examiner (HEX). This referral by the Trial Court created another conundrum, as the City's attorney previously admitted that the HEX could not determine the AFD issues pled in the litigation. (Appendix F) The Trial Court's opinion created more problems than resolutions. The Trial Court tried to overlook many of the biased acts and "troubling character" by the City's employees, while sanctioning unfair conduct and acts of bad faith by dismissing the litigation in violation of the AFD.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Appendix C Declaration of Francine Shaw pg 5

 $<sup>^5</sup>$  On February 24, 2003 the City Manager warned City Staff that the AFD would be applied to City staff. (Appendix D)

The Gerlachs' provided substantial evidence of the City's deliberate and intentional bad acts by the City's staff, agents and employees, which violated the AFD. The City has a long history of violating the AFD<sup>6</sup> by planning department staff. Even after the City promised to act in good faith via email, stating "The City has an obligation to treat the applications of the Gerlachs...in good faith..." (CP 387), the City's employees, agents and staff refused to act in good faith. Faced with the surmounting evidence of bias and bad faith, the City's Attorney finally admitted that the City <u>was not</u> required to treat the Gerlachs applications in good faith. (Appendix E) (Verbatim transcript pgs 47 and 48; CP 367, 387)

The City's acts of bad faith included: a) the City's Planning Commissioner, Maradel Gale (Gale), specifically directed the planner Heather Beckmann (Beckmann) to deny Gerlachs' application (this direction *troubled* the Trial Court); b) in order to conceal relevant evidence, the planner Beckmann failed to identify an alleged trespasser to the Gerlachs during the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The lower courts failed to reference the City Planning Manager's window washing side-business, The City's employee Josh Machen (Machen) has an ongoing "side-business" washing windows for permit applicants. Photographic evidence of Machen's work at locations with pending City permits was provided to the Court. (CP 5, 52, 62, 373, 381, 424-427, 429-431) The Court failed to address the obvious conflicts (see Appendix D). The Gerlachs and Respondents are involved in another pending action involving Machen's soliciting of the Gerlachs for his "side-business." This solicitation occurred while the Gerlachs had a pending permit before him.

applications' review, c) during a City police interrogation, the identity of the alleged trespasser was revealed and he admitted to the police that the City planners did not like the Gerlachs; d) The City violated their own municipal code (BIMC) by issuing a defective and untimely decision, which mirrored the directive of Gale; and e) the City discriminated against only the Gerlachs' application while permitting other neighboring applications.

If the lower courts will not require public servants to act in an unbiased and neutral manner, when reviewing permit applications, then the Supreme Court should accept review of this case and issue a published opinion mandating municipalities and public servants be fair, neutral and unbiased in the review of permit applications. To deny review allows municipalities and public servants to continue to act in a biased, unfair and prejudicial manner without any repercussions for their bad faith on permit actions.

#### I. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Trial Court and Court of Appeals issued unpublished opinions of general public interest and importance, which sought to determine unsettled questions of law and constitutional principles without regard to established case law. The opinions challenge legislative actions and are contrary to recognized legal authority (some originating from this Court). When the Court of Appeals held that existing cases, cited by the Gerlachs in support of their petition for fairness and neutrality were, "wrongly decided"(Appendix B, pg. 7) they established conflicting precedent.

The lower courts' opinions seem to refer the AFD violations to the City's HEX. The City's Attorney knew that the HEX did not have the authority to determine if the City violated the AFD. (Appendix F) It is a matter of public interest when the lower courts are directing the HEX to resolve an issue, which the HEX does not have the authority to resolve. Furthermore the HEX is <u>obligated</u> to give deference to the City – even for the City's biased, partial and unfair decisions. (this issue was raised before the Court of Appeals.) Giving deference to the City is biased and partial on its face.

The City's argument that their 53 page Staff Report/Decision is not a quasi-judicial action is false. This document references 24 BIMC codes, 11 Washington Cases, 3 RCWs, 3 WACs, and 1 Shoreline Board case. Their Decision was predicated upon the City's "quasi-judicial capacity."

A. <u>Underlying Decisions Involved Issues of Substantial Public Interest</u> The Rules of Appellate Procedure (RAP) provide that the Supreme Court will accept review of a decision by the Court of Appeals if it "involves an

issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4) There is no denying that the opinions in this case involve an issue of substantial public interest. The Supreme Court should accept review of these issues because there is no greater public interest than public servants working for municipalities. The problems pertaining to public servants in this case represent problems found throughout Washington. Public servants must be required to act in a fair and unbiased manner. Planning Commissioners, like Gale, should not be allowed to direct a planner to deny a neighbor's permit, merely to increase the value of her own property.<sup>7</sup> Planner, Beckmann, should not conceal the identity of alleged trespassers- merely to prevent admissions that the "City's planning staff do not like the Gerlachs." (CP 38, 389) Planning Managers, like Machen, should not operate "side-businesses" working on properties with pending City applications/permits. (CP 52, 62-63). It is the AFD, which provides the last line of defense for citizens, against an attack by corrupt, dishonest and deceptive public servants. When the lower courts fail to require even a mere *appearance of fairness* via the AFD, then the substantial public interest here requires the Supreme Court to accept this Petition, review this case and impose fairness to the Petitioners.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Appendix G Declaration of Lafe Meyers pg 3

The Supreme Court should also accept this Petition because ignoring the application of the AFD to public servants will cause many public servants to act unfairly and in a biased manner in the decision making process of permits, without fear of any ramifications. The opinions of the lower courts effectively protected and insulated public servants from any acts of corruption, unfairness and dishonesty. When the Court of Appeals stated, "[T]he AFD does not apply to decisions made by the City Planning Department..." (Appx B pg 7) it promoted further unethical conduct by public servants. To extrapolate on this misinterpretation of the law would allow public servants to: a) extort an applicant to hire a planner's "sidebusiness" in order to get a permit, b) it would allow planning commissioners to order denial of a neighbor's application thereby increasing the value of their own property, c) permit City staff to act in bad faith without conscience or consequence, d) authorize City planners to engage in activities that conflict with the City's responsibilities, e) sanction public servants to violate the municipality's codes by issuing untimely, defective and unsigned Decisions in violation of the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine. It is no surprise that all of the aforementioned acts occurred in this case by the City staff, agents and employees.

#### B. The Appearance Of Fairness Doctrine Must Apply To Public Servants

The RAP also provides that the Supreme Court will accept review of a decision from the Court of Appeals if it involves "significant questions of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States." RAP 13.4(b)(3) The Equal Protection Clause of the U.S. Constitution and Article 1 Sec 12 of the Washington State Constitution afford equal protection of the law and fairness to property owners. These Acts are interpreted via case law. Washington State established clear case law regarding permits. The procedures of obtaining permits must comply with constitutional due process rights, or fairness. *Mission Springs v City of Spokane* 134 Wn.2d 947, 962-963, 954 P.2d 250 (1998). The AFD requires fairness, or at least the *appearance of fairness*, in all stages of permit processing.

Equal protection, pursuant to the Federal and State Constitutions, was judicially recognized in Washington State in 1969. Case law required permit application proceedings to be procedurally fair, (*Smith v Skagit Co.* 75 Wn.2d 715, 740 453 P.2d 832 (1969) and appear to be conducted by impartial decision makers, *Buell v Bremerton* 80 Wn.2d 518, 523, 495 P.2d 1350 (1972). In several 1969 cases, the Washington Supreme Court invalidated local land use actions, made by public servants, because the proceedings appeared unfair, or public servants (with apparent motives or biases) failed to disqualify themselves from the proceedings. The Court decided that the strict fairness requirements of impartiality were mandated in property matters. Property matters were also protected under the Washington State Constitution. Past Courts believed in the importance of maintaining the public's confidence in land permit/use decisions.

The Court in *Chrobuck* held, "Circumstances or occurrences arising within such processes that, by their appearance, undermine and dissipate confidence in the exercise of zoning power, however innocent they might otherwise be, must be scrutinized with care and with the view that the evils sought to be remedied lie not only in the elimination of actual bias, prejudice, improper influence or favoritism, but also in the curbing of conditions that, by their very existence, create suspicion, generate misinterpretation and cast a pall of partiality, impropriety, conflict of interest or prejudgment over proceedings to which they relate. *Chrobuck v Snohomish County* 78 Wn.2d 858, 868, 480 P.2d 489 (1971)

In 1982, the Washington State Legislature codified the AFD under Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 42.36. The AFD was designed to guarantee that the strict procedural requirements were not only fair, but also <u>appeared</u> fair. The only way for the AFD to apply to the municipalities, is through the public servants employed by the municipalities. The AFD was developed as a method of assuring that due process protections apply to administrative decisions. The AFD was predicated upon equity. The goal of equity is to do substantial justice. Washington Courts embrace a long and robust tradition of applying the doctrine of equity. The doctrine of equity was recently upheld in *Columbia Community Bank v Newman Park LLC* 177 Wn.2d 566, 304 P.3d 472 (2013). The AFD attempted to bolster public confidence in fair and unbiased decision-making by making certain, in both *appearance* and in fact, in order to assure that parties receive equal treatment. Public servants cannot hold citizens hostage through the decision making process, in violation of the AFD, merely because they are the municipal authority.

The AFD is an equitable remedy for aggrieved persons who demonstrate the *appearance* of discrimination in local land use decisions. (RCW 42.36.010). The AFD is a rule of law requiring governmental decisionmakers to conduct non-court proceedings in a way that is fair and unbiased in <u>both appearance and fact.</u> The very title of the RCW is the "*Appearance* of Fairness," but this title could also include the "appearance of discrimination" against permit applicants.

The Gerlachs demonstrated actual discrimination by the City's staff, agents and employees. Discrimination by public servants is prohibited under the AFD. The AFD prohibits one City agent to direct another City staff to deny only one specific application (Gerlachs' application). The actions of the City's staff, agents and employees clearly violated the AFD under the standards of *Chobruck (supra)*.

Anyone seeking relief based upon the AFD must raise a challenge prior to the issuance of a decision. (RCW 42.36.080). The Gerlachs filed the Complaint for Declaratory Relief <u>before</u> the City issued its defective decision. The Gerlachs sought a fair and impartial review of their permit application <u>before</u> the City issued their unsigned decision, <u>not after</u>.

The AFD has consistently been applied in permit applications. *Smith v Skagit County* 75 Wn.2d 715, 453 P.2d 832 (1969) "The core of the doctrine announced in *Smith* and repeated often, is that the application process must not only be fair in fact, but <u>must appear fair</u> and be free of the <u>aura of partiality, impropriety, conflict of interest or prejudgment.</u> *Chrobuck v Snohomish County* 78 Wn.2d 858, 480 P.2d 489 (1971). The lower courts' orders, however, redefined "fairness" in the AFD and carved out an impermissible exception for municipalities and public servants. C. The Lower Courts' Decisions Conflicted with Controlling Case Law

The Trial Court's opinion contradicted the facts, admissions by the City and all controlling case law. The Court of Appeals' opinion compounded this dilemma by simply contradicting controlling case law. The Court of Appeals' opinion stated, "To the extent that any case cited by the Gerlachs provided otherwise [application of the AFD] we must conclude that it [all controlling case law] was *wrongly decided." (emphasis added)<sup>8</sup>* The Supreme Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals does not provide any meaningful guidance regarding which cases were "wrongly decided" and what legal bases the previous courts wrongly decided the cases. The lower court's improper approach to legal analysis and established precedent mandates review by the State Supreme Court.

Simply put, the lower courts endorsed the proposition that a municipality, via their public servants, may discriminate against certain citizens. The lower courts effectively authorized a discriminatory permit process that treated the Gerlachs in a dissimilar fashion. Municipalities are not allowed to apply permit criteria so as to exclude, or single-out a permit applicant and treat them in a dissimilar fashion. *Westbrook v Burien* 140 Wn.App. 540, 588, 166 P.3d 813 (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Appendix B pg. 7 The Court was not bound by case law.

The AFD was undoubtedly violated when the City's Planning Commissioner (Gale) directed the City's planner to "Deny this request."<sup>9</sup> The holding in *Hayden v City of Port Townsend* 28 Wn.App. 192, 662 P.2d 1291 (1981) specifically addressed improper interactions by vested members of municipal planning commissions. The *Hayden* court stated, "As it has developed, the appearance of fairness doctrine has been applied not only to cases where actual conflict of interest is demonstrated, but also to situations where a conflict of interest <u>may have affected an</u> <u>administrative decision.</u> "*Id* at 195. The *Hayden* court further stated, "[T]he doctrine prevents the presentation of views by public officials <u>acting even in their private capacity in order to advance the goal of</u> <u>assuring public confidence in the fairness of the quasi-judicial</u> <u>decision-making process.</u>" (emphasis added) *Id* at 198. The lower courts issued opinions in direct contradiction with the *Hayden* Court.

It is obvious that prejudgment, or partiality in any decision-making process will result in bias, or prejudgment, toward a pending application. "The AFD mandates municipal officers act without bias or impropriety in order to preserve the public's trust in government."<sup>10</sup> (Appendix H)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Appendix E - October 14, 2012 letter from the City's Commissioner to Planner to deny only the Gerlachs' permit. <sup>10</sup> Appendix H Declaration of Brian Sonntag pg 3

The Court in *Anderson v Island County* 81 Wn.2d 312, 326-327, 501 P.2d 594 (1972) overturned a land use decision because a councilmember had prejudged a particular issue. Once Commissioner Gale made an unauthorized and unsolicited predetermination on *only* the Gerlachs' application, the AFD was impermissibly violated.

#### CONCLUSION

There is a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and the United States. The lower courts' orders do not appear to be bound by this Court's prior decisions and are in conflict with established and controlling decisions from past Washington State Supreme Court opinions, or other Court of Appeals opinions. The lower courts redefined the AFD to exclude all of the City's public servants who violated the public's trust, concealed evidence, and created substantial public interest issues. The RAP requires this case be reviewed by the Washington State Supreme Court in order to remedy these violations.

Public servants are supposed to be neutral, fair and impartial in their decision making, but the evidence offered to the lower courts unfortunately indicated that Gale, Beckmann and Machen violated the AFD by creating irrefutable conflicts. Deceit, deception and dishonesty are not permissible characteristics under the AFD. The facts in this case indicate there are serious violations of the AFD, which warrant review of the lower courts' orders.

When the lower courts ignored the mendacities of the public servants the lower courts abandoned any interest in justice, or judicial efficiency. Citizens who request permits for development must know that a public servant is fair and unbiased in the decision-making process. The Washington State Supreme Court is obligated to intercede in order to preserve justice and respect precedent. Allowing the opinions of the lower courts to go unchallenged will promulgate further violations by public servants resulting in additional litigation. It is in the interest of judicial efficiency that the Supreme Court accept review of this case.