RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Feb 09, 2015, 12:38 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK



Supreme Court No. 91200-9 Court of Appeals No. 45571-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARCUS GERLACH and SUZANNE GERLACH,

Appellants,

v.

CITY OF BAINBRIDGE ISLAND,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT CITY OF BAINBRIDGE ISLAND'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

James E. Haney, WSBA #11058 Kristin N. Eick, WSBA #40794 OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE, P.L.L.C. 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3500 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 447-7000 Attorneys for Respondent City of Bainbridge Island

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE PETITION FOR REVIEW DOES NOT PRESENT AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE DETERMINED BY THE SUPREME COURT.

The Gerlachs argue that their (unfounded) allegations of misconduct on the part of the City's public officials makes this case one of "substantial public interest," thus meeting the criteria of RAP 13.4(b)(4) for Supreme Court review. According to the Gerlachs, "there is no greater public interest than public servants working for municipalities." Petition for Review at 11. But the legal issue involved in this case is not nearly so broad. Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals refused to reach the merits of the Gerlachs' allegations of misconduct (which the City vigorously denies), focusing instead on the failure of the Gerlachs' legal theory: that the alleged misconduct, if true, violated the appearance of fairness doctrine. Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals relied on the plain language of RCW 42.36.010, which provides that

Application of the appearance of fairness doctrine to local land use decisions shall be limited to the quasi-judicial actions of local decisionmaking bodies as defined in this section. Quasijudicial actions of local decision-making bodies are those actions of the legislative body, planning commission. hearing examiner, board adjustment, or boards which determine the legal rights, duties, or privileges of specific parties in a hearing or other contested case proceeding. Quasijudicial decisions do not include the legislative actions adopting, amending, revising or comprehensive, community, or neighborhood plans or other land use planning documents or the adoption of area-wide zoning regulations or the adoption of a zoning amendment that is of areawide significance.

(Emphasis added). It is undisputed in this case that the decision of the Bainbridge Island Planning Director on SSDPs (including the Gerlachs' SSDP application) is made without an open, public hearing or contested case proceeding. Therefore, both the trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly held that "the clear and unambiguous language" of RCW 4.36.010 makes the appearance of fairness doctrine inapplicable to this case and requires that the Gerlachs' lawsuit be dismissed.

The application of an unambiguous statute to undisputed procedural facts is not a matter of "substantial public interest" meriting Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b). Here, the state legislature has spoken as to the scope of the appearance of fairness doctrine and the Bainbridge Island City Council has spoken as to the process under which the City's Planning Director

makes an SSDP decision. Under the plain language of RCW 42.36.010, the appearance of fairness doctrine does not apply to the Planning Director's decision. The Supreme Court need not step in and "impose fairness" as the Gerlachs request where the extent and application of the appearance of fairness doctrine have already been clearly established by statute and interpreting case authority.

The Gerlachs also argue that this case presents an issue of substantial public interest because the Court of Appeals' decision (1) promotes further unethical conduct by public servants and (2) directs the Hearing Examiner to resolve an issue (violations of the appearance of fairness doctrine) that he lacks the authority to resolve. Petition for Review at 11. But both of these arguments miss the fundamental point that, not only is the legal issue much narrower than suggested by the Gerlachs, but also that unethical conduct will not be perpetuated or encouraged by the Court of Appeals' decision. As the City previously argued with respect to the availability of an adequate remedy at law below, the City's Hearing Examiner may address whether the City's land use decision on the SSDP application was decided correctly on the merits and in accordance with lawful permitting criteria. If the City's decision was biased and unfounded, the Hearing Examiner will reverse the decision without reaching the specific application of the appearance of fairness doctrine. Consequently, administrative land use decisions will not be made arbitrarily and unethically as a result of the Court of Apeals' decision and no substantial public interest is implicated.

B. THERE IS NO SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW IN THE PRESENT CASE.

The Gerlachs argue that the Supreme Court should accept discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the case involves significant questions of constitutional law under the Equal Protection Clause of the U.S. Constitution and Article 1, Section 12 of the Washington Constitution. Petition for Review at 13-19.

Preliminarily, the City notes that the Gerlachs failed to raise an equal protection argument before either the trial court or the Court of Appeals. Under RAP 13.7(c), the Supreme Court's scope of review is limited by the circumstances set forth in RAP 2.5. RAP 2.5(a) says that the Court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. The same principle has been extended to issues not raised in the Court of Appeals. Thus, as a general rule, the Court will not consider an issue that is raised for the first time in the petition for review. *See, e.g., Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 240, 961 P.2d 350 (1998); *State v. Clark*, 124 Wn.2d 90, 875 P.2d 613 (1994) (overruled on other grounds by, *State v. Catlett*, 133 Wn.2d 355, 945 P.2d 700 (1997)).

Moreover, the exception in RAP 2.5(a)(3) allowing a party to raise a manifest error affecting a constitutional right for the first time on appeal should not apply to excuse the Gerlachs failure to previously raise an equal protection argument in this case. In *In re Guardianship of Cobb*, 172 Wn. App. 393, 404, 292 P.3d 772 (2012), the court noted that an "appearance of fairness claim is not 'constitutional' in nature under RAP 2.5(a)(3) and, thus, may not be raised for the first time on appeal." *Id.* (citing *State v. Morgensen*, 148 Wn. App. 81, 90–91, 197 P.3d 715 (2008); *City of Bellevue v. King County Boundary Review Bd.*, 90 Wn.2d 856, 863, 586 P.2d 470 (1978)). Likewise, where the Gerlachs' superficial discussion of their equal protection claim reveals nothing more than a reiteration of their appearance of fairness arguments (which are not constitutional in nature), the Court should not accept review on the basis of a constitutional question.

In addition, RAP 2.5(a)(3) requires the petitioner to establish that a "manifest" error affecting a constitutional right exists, meaning that the petitioner must show actual prejudice and that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences at trial. *State v. Grimes*, 165 Wn. App. 172, 186-87, 267 P.3d 454 (2011). Again, because the Gerlachs still retain an adequate remedy at law via an administrative appeal on the merits of their

SSDP application, no prejudice results from their failure to assert constitutional claims.

Because of the Gerlachs' cursory treatment of their newly-asserted equal protection claim, they have failed to establish that any constitutional issue truly exists for the Court to determine. The cases cited by the Gerlachs, *Smith v. Skagit County*, 75 Wn.2d 715, 453 P.2d 832 (1969) and *Buell v. Bremerton*, 8- Wn.2d 518, 495 P.2d 1350 (1972), do not even mention the equal protection clause, and the Gerlachs have failed to explain how the doctrine applies to their case aside from general statements that fairness in decisionmaking should be afforded to them. Given this lack of specificity, review should not be accepted on this basis.

C. THERE IS NO CONFLICT BETWEEN THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION AND ANY CASE CITED BY THE GERLACHS.

The Gerlachs' final argument is that there is a conflict between the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case and controlling precedent of the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals, thereby making this case qualify for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). To make this argument, the Gerlachs first take a single sentence of the Court of Appeals' decision out of context and conflate it with what they term "an improper approach to legal analysis and established precedent." Petition for Review at 17. In context, what the Court of Appeals did was to quote the prohibition

on expanding the appearance of fairness doctrine found in RCW 42.36.100, and then to hold that

Based on the legislature's clear directive, we do not have the authority to apply the appearance of fairness doctrine to actions other than quasi-judicial actions by local decisionmaking bodies. To the extent that any case cited by the Gerlachs provides otherwise, we must conclude that it was wrongly decided.

Court of Appeals Opinion at 6-7. Read in context, the last sentence of this quoted passage was clearly not an acknowledgement that the Court's ruling conflicted with any prior precedent; it was simply the Court's shorthand way of dismissing the Gerlachs' tortured reading of that precedent in light of the statutory mandate. The Gerlachs' emphasis on this language is a misreading of the Court's opinion.

Moreover, none of the cases cited by the Gerlachs are in actual conflict with the Court of Appeals' ruling. The Gerlachs first cite *Westmark Dev. Corp. v. City of Burien*, 140 Wn. App. 540, 166 P.3d 813 (2007), arguing that an inconsistency exists with the *Westmark* holding that "a municipality may not 'single out' a building project or use its permitting process to block a project's development." *Id.* at 558. But *Westmark* was not an appearance of fairness case¹ and did not address the application of the doctrine to administrative decisions made without an open, public hearing.

¹ The quoted statement from *Westmark* was made in the context of a damages claim for tortious interference with a business expectancy, a cause of action that requires proof that the defendant interfered with that expectancy for an improper purpose.

There is no conflict between Westmark's holding and that of the Court of Appeals in this case.

The Gerlachs next cite *Hayden v. City of Port Townsend*, 28 Wn. App. 192, 662 P.2d 1291 (1981). The appearance of fairness doctrine *was* at issue in *Hayden*, but in that case the Port Townsend planning commission's action was clearly quasi-judicial because the commission was required to hold a public hearing and make a recommendation on a rezone. 28 Wn. App. at 193. In this case, just as clearly, the decision of the Planning Director on the Gerlachs' SSDP application was not quasi-judicial because no "hearing or other contested case proceeding" was involved. Thus, the *Hayden* decision is also not inconsistent with the Court of Appeals' decision.

The Gerlachs also cite *Smith v. Skagit County*, 75 Wn.2d 715, 453 P.2d 832 (1969), and *Chrobuck v. Snohomish County*, 78 Wn.2d 858, 480 P.2d 489 (1971). Again, both *Smith* and *Chrobuck* involved rezones on which the county planning commissions were required by law to hold at least one public hearing. The Supreme Court held in both cases that the appearance of fairness doctrine applied because a hearing was required:

It is axiomatic that, whenever the law requires a hearing of any sort as a condition precedent to the power to proceed, it means a fair hearing, a hearing not only fair in substance, but fair in appearance as well. A public hearing, if the public is entitled by law to participate, means then a

fair and impartial hearing. When applied to zoning, it means an opportunity for interested persons to appear and express their views regarding proposed zoning legislation.

(Emphasis added). Smith v. Skagit County, supra, 71 Wn.2d at 739. Accord, Chrobuck v. Snohomish County, 78 Wn.2d at 869. The decisions of the Supreme Court in Smith and Chrobuck are entirely consistent with the decision of the Court of Appeals in the case at bar, in which no public hearing was held.

Finally, the Gerlachs cite Anderson v. Island County, 81 Wn.2d 312, 501 P.2d 594 (1972). In Anderson, as in Hayden, Smith, and Chrobuck, the appearance of fairness doctrine was at issue, the decision involved was a rezone with a public hearing, and the conduct involved was that of a commission member. Using the same language as it had in Smith, the Supreme Court held that the appearance of fairness doctrine applies "whenever the law requires a hearing of any sort as a condition precedent to the power to proceed." 81 Wn.2d at 326. Because the City Planning Director's decision on the Gerlachs SSDP application did not require a public hearing, the Court of Appeals' decision in the case at bar is also completely consistent with the Supreme Court's holding in Anderson.

The Gerlachs have failed to show any inconsistency between the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case and any prior decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals. To the contrary, Washington appellate courts have clearly and consistently ruled that the appearance of fairness doctrine does not apply to administrative decisions where no public hearing is held. Families of Manito v. City of Spokane, 172 Wn. App. 727, 744-45, 291 P.3d 930 (2013); Zehring v. City of Bellevue, 103 Wn.2d 588, 591, 694 P.2d 638 (1985); Polygon Corp. v. City of Seattle, 90 Wn.2d 59, 67-68, 578 P.2d 1309 (1978). The decision of the Court of Appeals in this case is entirely consistent with these prior rulings. The requirements of RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) are not met in this case and do not provide a basis for granting review.

VI. CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons set forth above, the Gerlachs' Petition for Review should be denied. None of the grounds for accepting review under RAP 13.4(b) are present in this case and the decision of the Court of Appeals should be allowed to stand.